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FDH Bank is a commercial bank that was licensed by the Reserve Bank of Malawi on 17 November 2007. The 
Bank commenced its operations on 15 July 2008, with its first Branch, Umoyo House Branch, opening its doors in 
February 2009. FDH Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of FDH Financial Holdings Limited. The group company 
has interests in Banking, Discount House Operations, Investment Management and Advisory Services, Stock 
broking, as well as a Forex Money Bureau. We synchronize our systems to support our drive to offer first class 
financial solutions

The heritage of the bank lies on the basis that it is the home grown and home bred bank in Malawi. The Bank shares 
the monolithic brand architecture of the FDH group with the master brand being FDH. The FDH brand personality 
is energetic, youthful, professional and morally sound. Our brand promise Grow With Us communicates the 
commitment, desire and energy to help our stakeholders to step boldly into a future of possibilities. The brand 
promises the commitment the company has to allow our stakeholder to Grow into Greatness with inspiration from 
our Vision, Mission and core values.

FDH Bank is wholly owned by FDH Financial Holdings which has three shareholders as follows- M Development 
Limited, Old Mutual (Malawi) Limited and FDH ESOP Limited.

The bank boasts of a wide skill base in all services we provide and with a seasoned team of financial services 
experts, we aim to make a real difference for our stakeholders, our Shareholders, Customers, Staff and the 
communities in which we operate.

FDH Bank takes both pride and honor in its 
growth as an entity, in milestones attained from 
the period of inception, and in its contribution to 
the socio economic development of our Nation. 
The attainment of Fastest Growing Bank and Best 
Retail Bank awards received from the prestigious 
Global Banking and Finance Review are some such 
milestones that reflect the strength of our financial 
institution coupled with the amicable support from all 
our clients.

Our strategic vision steers us to provide fast, reliable 
and excellent service to our clients because we 
value the long term partnership of our customers. 
It is for this reason we stand by our brand promise; 
Grow With Us.
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VISION, MISSION STATEMENT AND CORE VALUES

Our Vision

To be the leading provider of first class banking solutions in Malawi and the southern African region.

Our Mission
 
To provide value to all stakeholders through superior returns, sustainable growth, secure returns, secure and 
efficient solutions based on sound business values while being an employer of choice.

Core Values

Transparency and Accountability: We communicate between and across all levels openly and constructively.
We are responsible for our actions. 

Respect - Commitment to client: We inspire, trust and respect in all our interactions with one another
and with our customers. To get respect you must give respect.

Teamwork: Together everyone achieves more.  We work together using collective experience, skills and 
competences. We hunt in packs.

Innovation:  We encourage new ideas and willingness to implement them. Together, we search for solutions
and make them better.

Customer Satisfaction: We serve to exceed expectation. We are always passionate and committed to serve
our customers with a smile.

Employee Development: We recognise each employee’s contribution to our success. We continuously improve 
our competences. We celebrate our accomplishments.
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FDH FINANCIAL HOLDINGS CORPORATE STRUCTURE   

FDH
Stockbrokers 

Ltd

First Discount
House LtdFDH Bank Ltd

FDH Money
Bureau Ltd

FDH Financial
Holdings Ltd 

100%

M Development Ltd 55%
Old Mutual Ltd 40% 

ESOP 5%
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PAT and Total Income Growth

Total Assets and Deposits Growth
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PERFORMANCE 

The Bank has made a consolidated profit after tax of MK3.3billion compared to a 
profit of MK1.5 million achieved in 2013.  During the year, the Bank has registered 
a significant increase in both interest and non-interest income mainly as a result 
of its continued focus on the development of its core activities, careful balance 
sheet management and increasing its customer base. The Bank has also registered 
significant growth in both the deposit and loans portfolio.

The year has seen the Bank extending its footprint through the opening of the new 
Nchalo Branch and the expansion of City Centre and Old Town Branches in Lilongwe. 
The Bank closed the year with thirteen (13) branches. These investments are in 
addition to fifteen (15) new ATMs that have been installed across the country during 
the year, bringing the total number of ATMs to twenty nine (29), all of which are now 
fully VISA compliant. 

The Bank launched several new products and services during the year, notably 
FDH e-money in partnership with Airtel Money, e-statements, SME suites and VISA. 
The Bank is now VISA compliant in both ATM acquiring and VISA card issuing.The 
investments are in line with the Bank’s objective of building a solid foundation for 
future financial growth and superior customer service. 

During the year, the Bank was recognised by the Global Banking and Finance Review 
as the Best Retail Bank and Fastest Growing Bank in Malawi in 2014.

OUTLOOK 

The year ahead is expected to still be challenging because of the harsh economic 
environment occasioned by donor pullout following the ‘Cashgate’ scandal and an 
ever changing regulatory environment. We also expect that Government will continue 
with its focus on consolidating macroeconomic stability and improving governance, 
reforming the public service through the Public Service Reform Commission, while 
strengthening the enabling environment for private sector investment for sustained and 
inclusive growth. This will in the short to medium term bring out various opportunities. 
We also expect competition for business, especially deposits to heighten in 2015.  

The Bank will continue with its network expansion, with an additional three (3) 
outlets and ten (10) additional ATMs planned in 2015. The Bank will also continue to 
introduce new products and services.

VOTE OF THANKS

I wish to sincerely thank my colleagues on the Board for their contributions and service 
towards the Board. I also thank all stakeholders of FDH Bank, including our valued 
clients, the Government of Malawi, the Reserve Bank of Malawi, correspondent 
banks and other business partners, whose support enabled the Bank to achieve the 
performance it has been able to report.

In particular, I wish to give special acknowledgment to the FDH Bank Management 
Team and to all Staff members for their dedication, commitment, and hard work, 
without which the Bank would not have been able to achieve this exceptional 
performance for the year.

Dr E.J. Sankhulani 
Board Chairman 

 

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 2014
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The operating environment was challenging in 2014, but we are 
pleased to share that the Bank remained resilient and performed 
well closing the year with an unprecedented Profit After Tax of 
MK3.3 billion compared to MK1.5 million achieved in 2013. Interest 
Income grew by 15% from MK7.4 billion achieved in 2013 to MK8.7 
billion. In the same period, Interest Expense reduced by 11% from 
MK5.7 billion in 2013 to MK5.1 billion. 

The Bank registered significant growth in Non–Interest Revenue 
which closed the year at MK7.3 billion compared to MK3.6 billion 
achieved in 2013. 

Loans and Advances to customers grew by 16% from MK16.3 
billion in 2013 to MK19 billion in 2014. On the other hand, Customer 
Deposits grew by 25% closing 2014 at MK39.1 billion from MK31.2 
billion in 2013.

The Bank remained compliant with Basel II capital requirements 
throughout the year with Tier I and Tier II capital ratios closing the 
year at 12.3% and 17.4% against minimum requirements of 10% 
and 15% respectively. 

Business Performance
FDH bank expanded its outreach through the opening of a new 
branch in Nchalo. Financial inclusion is a key aspect of our vision 
and branch network expansion is one of the service delivery 
channels we intend to upgrade in order for us to reach out to the 
masses.  

In line with our brand promise, Grow With Us, we are particularly 
giving Small to Medium enterprises strategic focus from this year 
onwards. This enables us to contribute to the government efforts 
to develop both public and private sectors through growing hands 
that are capable of creating employment, developing productive 
initiatives, processing raw materials into end products, and 
ultimately feeding the nation. We do not neglect the fact that, being 
an agro based economy, a significant proportion of our SME’s 
are in the farming sector. Growing from humble beginnings, FDH 
Bank, being a home grown and home bred bank, has opened the 
first ever separate SME and Farmers Suites in our Lilongwe Old 
Town and City Centre Branches. We understand their challenges 
and hindrances to growth; these banking suites will cater for their 
specific financial needs and educate them through financial literacy 
programmes by various renowned business personnel to grow their 
businesses.  

FDH Nchalo Branch

SME Facilitator, Henry Kachaje

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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SME Clinic in progress ( Blantyre)

SME Clinic in Lilongwe

FDH Gold & Classic Visa Cards

ASM Symposium

During the year, the Bank conducted a successful Zatheka 
promotion draw and saw one lucky winner walk away with 
a grand prize of MK1 million.

Other notable projects initiated in 2014 include the  
installation of 15 new ATM’s nationwide and this is an 
ongoing project which will see 10 more being installed 
in 2015. The introduction of FDH E-money – which is a 
service offering in partnership with mobile network provider 
Airtel Malawi – allows our clients to access mobile banking 
solutions. VISA issuing and VISA live aims to upgrade the 
transactability of our clients by enabling our bank and non–
bank clients to transact with their VISA card on all our ATMs 
as well as any VISA enabled ATMs.
 
From our Corporate Banking Division, FDH Bank gives 
its support to artisanal and small scale miners in terms 
of the much needed capital investment, trade financing 
and financial literacy. Our intention is to build capacity, 
provide access to finance, offer technical support and 
promote investments. FDH Bank signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the Ministry of Natural Resources, 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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Energy and Mining on the 28th of March, 2014, to promote, 
empower and assist small scale miners in Malawi in their 
export activities.

Corporate Banking has attained an exciting milestone in 
the year that unlocked a Trade Line facility from IFC after 
successfully passing the IFC due diligence. The credit 
line will escalate our endeavors in trade finance activities 
especially on the ‘Letters of Credit’ business.

The Treasury Division recorded tremendous growth in both 
the Foreign Exchange Market and Money Market. 

Foreign Exchange (FX) trading turnover grew by 136.9% 
from 2013 to 2014. This was mainly on account of 
increased purchases from Government projects, growth in 
both local and foreign strategic partners, and the increase 
in remittances for strategic imports.

Treasury FX Income grew by 131.1% from 2013 to 2014. 
The sharp rise in FX Income was mainly on account of 
increased turnover and a strong growth in ZAR trading as 
compared to the same period during the previous year. 

On the Money Market front, the Treasury Book size grew 
by 142.2% from 2013 to 2014. The Treasury Book was 
however negatively affected by increased pricing of Term 
Deposits which eroded most of the gains of investing in this 
portfolio. Prudent liquidity management however requires 
a good balance in the portfolio of short term Government 
Securities. The Bank therefore fully complied with its 
Monthly Liquidity Ratios and both the FX and local currency 
Liquidity Reserve Requirement. 

Our People
Our people and their actions are the main determinants 
of our company’s success. For this reason, we have 
introduced a rewarding initiative, Mkokomo Awards, so as 
to acknowledge our people who perform exceptionally well 
in different aspects of their work. This initiative nurtures our 
people to care for one another enough to acknowledge, 
nominate and reward outstanding performances. FDH 
Financial Holdings would like to have all its employees 
grow and prosper in their various spheres of life.

Eagle Award Winner (Right)

HIV POLICY launch at Mount Soche Hotel

Team Building Exercise

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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GAIA donation

The ‘Eagle Award’ winner, walked away with a certificate of 
excellence, a trophy, a money prize and a fully paid holiday-
trip to Cape Town in South Africa for two (2).
 
FDH Bank introduced a graduate trainee program in 2014 to 
encourage Learning and Development. This will also assist 
us to groom our staff to take up challenging positions and 
be able to contribute profitably to the growth of the Bank.

Team Building and Health
Team Building is essential to FDH Bank as participants 
engage in various sporting and mental activities that build 
teams. This is essential to the establishment of healthy 
social and working/professional relationships.  

Health and safety is a crucial component of FDH Financial 
Holdings. On the 1st of June 2014, FDH Holdings launched 
its HIV Work Place Policy as one way of advancing the 
health component. 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Corporate Social Responsibility is an integration of the 
Company into the social and environmental domain. 
This obligation is seen to extend beyond the statutory 
obligation to comply with legislation and sees organizations 
voluntarily taking further steps to improve the quality of life 
for employees and their families as well as for the local 
community and society at large.

Every year we set aside funds for philanthropic purposes 
as we aim to achieve sustainable impact on the community 
and to Give Real Opportunity and Welfare to our people.

Some of the activities that we support are those surrounding 
environmental sustainability, health as well as education.

MBC Top of the Class Sponsorship
FDH Bank took a stand to revive the MBC Top of the Class 
(TOTC) which is an inter-schools quiz competition that aims 
at contributing to uplift education standards in the country. 
It aims to nurture a reading culture amongst our secondary 
school students. We realize that education contributes to 
the growth and development of any economy and we too as 
FDH have a dream of seeing a better and brighter Malawi.

Top Of The Class

500 miles

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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ECONOMIC OUTLOOK
The operating environment was somewhat challenging in 2014. The market generally 
faced liquidity challenges for the most part and this, coupled with the government appetite 
for borrowing caused a rise in interest rates. This had an adverse impact on the interest 
expense of the bank. Deposit rates are expected to decrease in the short term as a 
result of improved liquidity levels. Treasury bill yields are expected to remain stable as 
the Reserve Bank has stated that they will accept rates around the monetary policy rate 
currently at 25%. Base lending rates are expected to remain high but may decline if the 
banking sector liquidity continues to improve or if the monetary policy rate is adjusted 
downwards. The Reserve Bank of Malawi will continue to implement a tight monetary 
policy stance.

Effective 10 November 2014, the RBM issued a new directive on LRR computation 
which requires the LRR for FCDA balances (at 15.5% of the outstanding deposits) to be 
observed using local currency balances with the RBM (in the Bank’s main account). This 
change will have a major impact on liquidity in the market as banks will be required to hold 
Malawi Kwacha reserves for the FCDA deposits.

Inflation eased down in 2014 with the annual average rate closing the year at 23.8% 
compared to 27.2% for 2013. Inflation is expected to decelerate in 2015 on the back of 
an appreciating Kwacha and declining global oil prices. A low maize harvest due to the 
recent floods and dry spells may however affect the rate at which inflation decelerates in 
the year.

The Kwacha experienced major swings in the year from a middle rate low of around 
MK403 against the dollar to around MK501 at the peak of the lean period. The local 
currency gradually started appreciating in December closing the year at MK467 on the 
back of lower demand coupled with increased supply of foreign currency on the market. 
The local currency is expected to remain stable in the short term. However, in the medium 
to long term, the currency is expected to depreciate on account of the significant current 
account deficit and weak investment inflows and pressure from the withholding of donor 
funds. 

In 2014, the country attained GDP growth of 6.0 percent. All sectors of the economy 
except mining and quarrying were estimated to have registered positive growth rates in 
the year. GDP is estimated to grow by 5.8% in 2015 as the economy continues to recover. 
Risks to GDP growth are high inflation rates, high interest rates, lower tobacco and maize 
harvests, public sector strikes and the withdrawal of donor funding.

Finally, let me take the opportunity to express my appreciation to the Chairman and the 
rest of the Directors for the support and guidance provided during the past year and to my 
fellow members of staff for the spirit of team work and cooperation that prevailed.

Phillip Madinga
Managing Director

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Phillip Madinga
Managing Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Dr. Eric J. Sankhulani
Board Chairman of FDH Bank Limited

He is currently the Head of Management Studies at the Polytechnic, a 
constituent college of the University of Malawi. He holds a PHD in Philosophy 
and has sat on numerous boards including the Privatisation Commission and 
National Bank of Malawi.

Mr. Mark Mikwamba
Chairman, FDH Financial Holdings, Director

He is the Board Chairman of FDH Financial Holdings as well as the Managing 
Director of Old Mutual Investment Group. He is a fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Accountants. He previously held the posts of CEO of Stockbrokers 
Malawi and Head of Investments at NICO.

Dr. Nathan Mpinganjira
Chairman First Discount House Limited, Director

He is the Board Chairman of First Discount House Limited, FDH Money Bureau 
Limited and FDH Stockbrokers Limited. He is a Tax specialist working for the 
South African Revenue Authority. He holds a PHD in Business Administration 
and is a Fellow of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mrs. Mary C. Nkosi
Director

She is a director of the FDH Group of Companies. She is a former Deputy 
Governor of the Reserve Bank of Malawi and has worked for various institutions 
including FINCOM (now Nedbank) as Executive Director, and National Bank 
of Malawi as Head of Corporate Banking. She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Science and a Diploma in Management Studies.
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Mrs. Judith Chirwa
Director 

She is a director of the FDH Group of Companies. She is currently the Managing 
Director of Chisapi Private Schools and has over 18 years experience in Micro, 
Small and Medium Enterprises Development. She holds a Masters Degree in 
Strategic Management and worked for DEMAT before retiring to venture into 
private business.

Mrs. Edith Jiya
Director

She is the Director of the FDH Group of Companies. She holds a Masters 
Degree in Strategic Management, a Bachelor of Business Administration and 
a Post-graduate Diploma from the Chartered Institute of Marketing. She is 
currently the Managing Director of Old Mutual Life Assurance Company and 
sits on various Boards including TNM.

Mr. Patrice Nkhono
Director

He is a Director of the FDH Group of Companies. He is a lawyer with more 
than 24 years experience in legal practice. He is currently a Senior Partner in 
Commercial/Corporate law firm of Mbendera and Nkhono Associates in Blantyre. 
He holds a Masters Degree in Law, speacialising in International Development 
Law, Global Economic Governance and Global Business Regulation. He has 
also sat on various boards including the Reserve Bank of Malawi.

Dr. Thomson F. Mpinganjira
Director

He is a Director of the FDH Group of Companies. He is the founder shareholder 
of the FDH Financial Holdings Group and is currently the CEO of FDH Financial 
Holdings Limited. Thomson, a 1984 graduate of the University of Malawi and a 
Chartered Accountant by training, also holds a Honorary Doctorate in Philosophy 
(PhD) in Business Studies by Exploits University. He has held numerous posts 
including CEO of Malawi Stock Exchange, CEO of Stockbrokers Malawi Limited 
and Head of Risk at National Bank of Malawi. He is also a Commissioner of the 
Public Service Reform Commission.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mathias Silumbu  
Head of Finance

William Mpinganjira
Chief Risk Officer

Jones Chabwera
Head of Internal Audit

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
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Phillip Madinga
Managing Director
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Sitabene Majamanda
Head of Corporate 

Banking

Alfred Nhlema
Head of Treasury

Kawawa Msapato 
Head of Personal and

Business Banking
Charles Bello

Head of Operations

Alex Chipungu
Head of Support 

Services
Ganizani Phiri

Head of IT
Laston Chilando

Head of HR

George Naphambo
Company Secretary 
and Legal Counsel
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FDH Bank is committed to corporate governance standards and principles as outlined in the Reserve Bank of Malawi’s 
Corporate Governance Guidelines of 2010, The Banking Act of 2010, Financial Services Act of 2010, the Malawi Corporate 
Governance Code, the Cadbury Report and the King Reports. These principles define the division of power and establish 
mechanisms for achieving accountability between the board of directors, management and shareholders, while protecting 
the interests of depositors and taking into account the effects of such processes on other stakeholders, such as creditors, 
employees, customers and the general community. 

The Board
The Bank is led and managed by an effective Board. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the Bank. 
The Board works with the Management in order to achieve success and the Management is accountable to the Board. 
The Board leads and manages the Bank by setting out strategic direction and the long-term goals of the Bank and high 
standards of corporate governance. The Board also sees to it that the Management conducts business and affairs of the 
Bank with integrity and transparency, in compliance with the laws and regulations and with the ultimate aim of enhancing 
value and achieving sustainable growth for the Bank. In order to achieve these key objectives and to enhance its role, the 
Board has the following Committees:

1. IT Committee
2. Credit Risk Committee
3. Finance and Audit Committee
4. Appointments and Remuneration Committee
5. Risk and Capital Management Committee.

IT Committee
The IT Committee is responsible for the Bank’s investments, operations and strategy in relation to technology and 
information systems. The committee among other things: 

• Reviews and recommends to the Board Management’s strategies relating to technology and the alignment  
 of these strategies with the Bank’s overall strategy and objectives; 
• Reviews and monitors Management’s strategies for developing or implementing new technologies and   
 systems; 
• Monitors implementation of various IT related projects aimed at enhancing service delivery; and
• Monitoring and managing risks arising from the Bank’s information technology to ensure the effectiveness   
and security of the information management system and data storage to achieve the Bank’s long-term   
 business plan.

Credit Risk Committee
The Credit Risk Committee is responsible for:

• Defining the Bank’s risk appetite and providing general guidance on aggregate and individual exposures in 
line with regulations, directives and the Bank’s strategy and Policy and ensure conformity of the loan portfolio 
to the credit policies.

• Approving and periodically reviewing the Bank’s credit risk strategy and compliance with the Bank’s credit 
policies or departures there from.

• Ensuring that Management maintains stringent emphasis on minimizing undue credit risk exposure through 
maintenance of sound lending procedures; and

• To ensure adequate provisions are made for loan losses.

Finance and Audit Committee
The Finance and Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring:

• Maximum profitability and acceptable rate of return on all activities;
• Maximum utilization and safeguard of the Bank’s assets;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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The Board has also conducted a Self Assessment of its performance for 2014 in line with Article 7 and Annex 1 of the 
Reserve Bank’s Corporate Governance Guidelines of 2010.

• Maintenance of proper accounting records; and
• Ensuring effective internal controls.

Risk and Capital Management Committee
The Risk and Capital Management Committee is responsible for ensuring that the company’s overall risk position is properly 
and proactively assessed, to ensure that the company applies the highest possible standards via the Banking Act, Reserve 
Bank of Malawi’s CAMEL (Capital adequacy, Asset quality, Management, Earnings and Liquidity) components and systems, 
RBM’s Directives and operational guidelines and the Bank for International Settlements Capital adequacy requirements, 
and to minimize risk within the company through diversification. It is also responsible for issues relating to internal controls, 
defaults, fraud, defalcations and other related issues. The following risks are monitored by this Committee:

• Strategic Risk
• Operational Risk
• Credit Risk
• Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
• Interest Rate Risk
• Liquidity Risk
• Reputational Risk
• Market risk
• Legal and Compliance Risk

Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee assists Management in managing, nominating, and developing the 
human resources of the Bank. The main responsibility of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee is to assist the 
Executive Committee in setting up a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on recruitment, succession 
planning, remunerations and staff retention for the Bank’s staff. The responsibilities of this committee is as follows:

• To review the Bank’s conditions of service;  
• To recommend to the Board salary adjustments for staff;
• To ensure that Management is complying with Labor laws and regulations;
• To consider and recommend to the Chairman incentive schemes, including share option schemes;
• To determine fees for Board members. 

Meetings of the Board and Committees
The Board meets at least four times per year to review the Bank’s key activities including financial performance, business 
plan, corporate strategies, and significant operational matters of the Bank. In 2014, the Board met five times and the 
following is the record of attendance of Board meetings by each FDH Group director:

Name Director Number of Meetings Attended out of 
a total of 5 Attendance Attended Record %

Dr Eric J. Sankhulani Non-Executive 5/5 100

Mrs. Edith Jiya Non-Executive 2/5 40

Mrs. Judith Chirwa Non-Executive 4/5 80

Mr. Mark Mikwamba Non-Executive 5/5 100

Mrs. Mary C. Nkosi Non-Executive (July to December 2014) 2/5 40

Dr. Nathan Mpinganjira Non-Executive 5/5 100

Mr. Patrice Nkhono Non-Executive (April to December 2014) 4/5 80

Mr. Phillip Madinga Executive 5/5 100

Mr. Thomson Mpinganjira Executive 5/5 100
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The Directors have the pleasure in presenting the consolidated and bank financial statements of FDH Bank Limited and 
its subsidiary FDH Money Bureau Limited, which comprise statements of financial position together with the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 
2014.
 
ACTIVITIES 
The Bank is engaged in the business of commercial banking and foreign currency trading, through its 100% owned 
subsidiary FDH Money Bureau Limited. Both the Bank and the Bureau, which are incorporated in Malawi, are registered 
under the Companies Act, 1984 and Banking Act, 2009. 

The Bank’s registered office and principal place of business is Upper Ground Floor, Umoyo House, 8 Victoria Avenue 
North, and P.O.  Box 512, Blantyre, Malawi.

RESULTS 
The directors report a consolidated profit after tax of MK20.1 billion (2013: MK3.3 million) for the year to 31 December 
2014.

SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised share capital of the company is MK500,000,000 (2013: MK500,000,000) divided into 500,000,000 
(2013: 500,000,000) Ordinary shares of MK1 each.  The issued share capital of the company is MK267,750,000 (2013: 
MK267,750,000) divided into 267,750,000 (2013: 267,750,000) Ordinary shares of MK1 each (2013: MK1).

The FDH Bank Limited group is wholly owned by FDH Financial Holdings Limited, an investment holding company 
registered under the Companies Act, 1984.

DIRECTORS
The following Directors served in office during the period:

Dr. Eric J. Sankhulani    - Chairman - All year
Mr. Thomson F. Mpinganjira  - All year
Dr. Nathan Mpinganjira    - All year
Mr. Mark Mikwamba   - All year
Mrs. Judith Chirwa   -           All year 
Mr. Phillip A. Madinga   - All year
Mrs. Edith Jiya    - All year
Mrs. Mary C. Nkosi   - July to December 2014

Half of the Directors shall retire at the next Annual General Meeting.  However, being eligible, the retiring directors offer 
themselves for re-election. 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Director: __________________________________________     _________      
  

Director: ___________________________________________________      
  

Date:  ___________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the consolidated and bank financial statements of FDH 
Bank Limited and its subsidiary, FDH Money Bureau Limited, for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Companies Act, 1984, requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group as at the end of the financial period and of the operating results for 
that period.

The Act also requires the directors to ensure the group keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act, 1984.

In preparing the consolidated and bank financial statements the directors accept responsibility for ensuring the following:

• Maintenance of proper accounting records;
• Selection of suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;
• Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• Compliance with applicable accounting standards when preparing financial statements, subject to any   
 material departures being disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
• Preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
 Group will continue in business.

The directors also accept responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of 
the Group and to maintain adequate systems of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the financial affairs of 
the Group and the bank and of its operating results.

Director: ___________________________________________________  

Director: ___________________________________________________  

Date:   ___________________________________________________                 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
For the year ended 31 December 2014

20

10 February 2015



FDH BANK LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2014     Grow With Us

We have audited the consolidated annual financial statements and separate financial statements of FDH Bank Limited and 
its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014, 
and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 4 to 57. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1984 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, these financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated and separate financial position of 
FDH Bank Limited and its subsidiary as at 31 December 2014, and its consolidated and separate financial performance 
and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and the Companies Act 1984, so far as concerns the members of the bank.

Certified Public Accountants
Blantyre, Malawi

……………………………………………………

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FDH BANK LIMITED
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2014

 
  Group           Bank
  2014 2013 2014 2013
 Note MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
INCOME
Interest earnings  8 653 683 7 440 392 8 682 562 7 558 240
Interest expense  (5 124 475)   (5 736 620) (5 124 475)  (5 736 620)

Net interest income 5 3 529 208 1 703 772 3 558 087 1 821 620
Commissions and other fee income 6 7 310 969 3 600 142 6 975 237 3 218 658
Dividend income                   -                   -                  -       14 400

Total income  10 840 177   5 303 914 10 533 324  5 054 678 
   
    
EXPENDITURE
Administrative costs  2 671 226 1 870 462 2 552 625 1 757 771
Staff costs  2 764 018 1 605 549 2 615 472 1 467 633
Other trading costs  186 183               78 043  164 587 59 954
Bad debt provision        412 789   1 707 645      412 789   1 707 645
 
Total expenditure     6 034 216    5 261 699   5 745 483   4 993 003

Profit before tax   7        4 805 961      42 215 4 787 841 61 675
Taxation   8     (1 476 850)       (40 714)        (1 470 975)         (41 572) 
 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR                    3 329 111         1 501   3 316 866      20 103 
  

The Group had no other comprehensive income and non-controlling interest.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2014

Group  Bank 
 Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
ASSETS
Cash and funds with 
Reserve Bank of Malawi  9 8 270 209 6 008 252 8 154 301 5 888 060
Malawi Government Treasury Bills
and Reserve Bank of Malawi bonds           10 10 950 834    4 475 929 10 950 834 4 475 929
Placements with other banks  11 6 547 521 7 051 157 6 547 521 7 051 157
Loans and advances to customers  12 18 903 091 16 292 543 19 069 634 16 465 421
Related party receivables  13 - - - 85 431
Other receivables and prepayments            14 980 195 750 466 955 518 728 601
Investment in subsidiary  15 - - 132 840 132 840
Other investments  15 000 - 15 000 -
Equipment   16 2 402 155 1 826 066      2 367 985 1 779 675
Intangible assets                                   17 379 638 418 868 379 638 418 868
Goodwill  18 131 784 131 784 - -
Deferred tax 23 878 - - 
Income tax assets                                                     -         111 055                   -       108 757

TOTAL ASSETS  48 581 305 37 066 120  48 573 271 37 134 739 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital  267 750 267 750 267 750  267 750
Share premium  807 250 807 250 807 250   807 250
Preference shares  500 000 500 000 500 000 500 000
Capital Reserve  8 550 8 550            - -
Loan loss reserve  561 145 - 561 145 -
Retained profit  4 064 112   1 296 146    4 039 396  1 283 675
 
Total shareholders’ equity  6 208 807   2 879 696    6 175 541  2 858 675 
      
LIABILITIES         
Shareholders’ loan 19 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000
Liabilities to customers 20 39 107 034 31 156 915 39 200 161 31 405 773
Liabilities to financial institutions 21 - 1 043 644 - 1 043 644
Payables and accruals 22 1 201 411 691 940 1 138 970 533 721
Income tax liabilities  803 336 - 797 882 -
Deferred tax liabilities 23         85 717       118 925         85 717       117 926
 
Total liabilities   42 372 498  34 186 424 42 397 730   34 276 064
 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   48 581 305  37 066 120   48 573 271  37 134 739 
     
Memorandum items
Guarantees 24   1 840 178      350 200   1 840 178      350 200        
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ……………………………. and were 
signed on its behalf by:

…………………………..………….…..    …………………………….……………….. 
Director   Director 
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 Share Share  Preference   Loan loss Retained

 capital         premium Shares reserve profit Total

 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Bank

2013

At the beginning of the year 249 000  601 000  - - 1 547 572 2 397 572

Issue of ordinary shares 18 750 206 250 - - - 225 000 

Issue of preference shares -  - 500 000 - -  500 000

Dividends declared and paid                                                                                                        

relating to 2012 - - - -  (284 000) (284 000)

Profit for the year                         -               -  -              -      20 103       20 103

 

As at 31 December 2013   267 750   807 250 500 000             - 1 283 675  2 858 675

2014

At the beginning of the year 267 750 807 250 500 000 - 1 283 675 2 858 675

Transfer to loan loss reserve - - - 561 145 (561 145) -

Profit for the year                          -               -  -                - 3 316 866 3 316 866

 

As at 31 December 2014    267 750 807 250 500 000    561 145 4 039 396 6 175 541 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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  Share Share   Capital   Preference   Loan loss Retained

  capital premium reserve shares reserve profit Total 

                 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Group

2013

At the beginning of the year         249 000  601 000     8 550             - - 1 578 645 2 437 195

Issue of ordinary shares          18 750  206 250             -             - - -  225 000

Issue of preference shares -  - - 500 000 - -  500 000

Dividends declared and paid                                                                                                        

relating to 2012 - - - - -  (284 000) (284 000)

Profit for the year                         -              -              -                -                 -        1 501          1 501

 

As at 31 December 2013   267 750   807 250      8 550         500 000                 - 1 296 146  2 879 696

2014

At the beginning of the year          267 750 807 250 8 550 500 000 - 1 296 146 2 879 696

Transfer to loan loss reserve - - - - 561 145 (561 145) -

Profit for the year                         -              -              -                -                 -    3 329 111   3 329 111

 

As at 31 December 2014    267 750    807 250       8 550     500 000     561 145    4 064 112   6 208 807

       2014 2013

       K’000 K’000

Analysis of share capital

Authorised 

500,000,000 (2013: 500,000,000) Ordinary shares of K1 each        500 000   500 000

 

Issued and fully paid

267,750,000 (2013: 267,750,000) Ordinary shares of K1 each       267 750   267 750
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 Group Bank
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 4 805 961 42 215 4 787 841 61 675 
 
Adjustments for:
• Depreciation of plant and equipment 429 726 325 691 420 340 312 388
• Amortisation of intangible assets 94 680  79 733 94 680 79 733
• Dividend income                                     -      -  - (14 400)    
• Profit on disposal of equipment                    (4 371)   (3 420)        (4 371) (3 420) 
• Movement in receivables and prepayments (229 729) (482 135) (226 917) (472 239)
• Movement in loans and advances (2 610 548) (1 148 431) (2 604 213) (1 172 792)
• Movement in payables and accruals  509 471 318 303 605 249 161 572
• Movement in related party balances - 122 594 85 431 54 993
• Movement in liabilities to customers 7 950 119 12 152 061 7 794 388 12 352 102
• Movement in liabilities to financial institutions (1 043 644)  (1 160 680) (1 043 644)   (1 160 680)
       
Cash from operating activities 9 901 665  10 245 931 9 908 784 10 198 932
Taxation paid (596 545)     (268 862)    (596 545)    (265 415)
 
Net cash from operating activities  9 305 120   9 977 069   9 312 239   9 933 517

Investing activities    
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment                   22 760 8 784 22 760  8 784
Dividends received - - - 14 400
Increase in Treasury Bills investments (919 010) (1 459 419)    (919 010) (1 459 419)  
Purchase of computer software (55 450)  (220 245)         (55 450) (220 245)  
Purchase of plant and equipment (1 024 204)    (471 635) (1 027 039)    (466 500)
Other investments (15 000)                 -      (15 000)                  -
 
Net cash used in investing activities  (1 990 904) (2 142 515)  (1 993 739)  (2 122 980)    
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares             - 725 000 - 725 000
Proceeds from borrowings - 1 175 000 - 1 175 000
Dividends paid                                                                           -   (284 000)                -     (284 000)   
Net cash generated from financing activities                 -  1 616 000                -   1 616 000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7 314 216 9 450 554 7 318 500 9 426 537 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the year                                                                  15 520 732   6 070 178     15 400 540   5 974 003

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 834 948 15 520 732 22 719 040     15 400 540
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and funds with the Reserve Bank of Malawi 8 270 209 6 008 252 8 154 301 5 888 060
Malawi Government Treasury Bills (maturing
within 3 months) (note 10) 8 017 218 2 461 323 8 017 218 2 461 323 
Placements with other banks 6 547 521   7 051 157    6 547 521   7 051 157 
  
  22 834 948 15 520 732  22 719 040 15 400 540
  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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1. General information

 FDH Bank Group is engaged in the business of commercial banking. It is also engaged in foreign currency 
trading, through its subsidiary FDH Money Bureau Limited. Both the Bank and Bureau, which are incorporated 
in Malawi, are registered under both the Banking Act, 2009 and the Companies Act, 1984. The Bank started its 
operations on 17 July 2008. The Bureau was acquired on 28 January 2009 and started operations as a subsidiary 
of FDH Bank Limited on 1 February 2009.

 The Bank’s registered office and principal place of business is Upper Ground Floor, Umoyo House, 8 Victoria 
Avenue North, P. O.  Box 512, Blantyre, Malawi. The FDH Bank Group is wholly owned by FDH Financial Holdings 
Limited, an investment holding company registered under the Companies Act, 1984.

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

2.1 Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosed in the financial statements

 In the current year, the company has adopted those new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
of the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2014.

 The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a significant impact on the 
financial statements of the company.

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant Standards and Interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective:

 Pronouncement Issued               Effective date

 IFRS 2 Share Based Payments
 • Amendments resulting to Annual 
  Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
  (Amends the definitions of ‘vesting  after 1 July 2014 
  condition’ and ‘market condition’ 
  and adds definitions for ‘performance 
  condition’ and ‘service condition’)
  
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Pronouncement Issued               Effective date

IFRS 3 Business Combinations
• Amendments resulting to Annual 
 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 (Requires fair value measurement   after 1 July 2014
 for contingent consideration at each 
 reporting date)
  
• Annual Improvements 2011-2013 
 Cycle (Clarifies exclusion from  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 its scope the accounting for the   after 1 July 2014
 formation of a joint arrangement)  

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held and Discontinued Operation
• Amendments resulting from Annual 
 Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle  September 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
 (Clarifies the reclassification of an asset   after 1 July 2016
 from held for sale to held for 
 distribution or vice versa.)
  

IFRS 7 Financial Instrument; Disclosure
• Amendments resulting from Annual  September 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
 Improvements 2012-2014 (Clarifies   after 1 July 2016
 on offsetting disclosures.)
  
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
• Amendments resulting to Annual 
 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 (Requires disclosure of the judgments  after 1 July 2014 
 made by management)
  
IFRS 9 Financial Instrument: Disclosures
• Contains accounting requirements 
 for financial instruments, replacing  November 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 IAS 39 Financial Instruments:   after 1 January 2018
 Recognition and Measurement
  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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2.  Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
  
2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Pronouncement Issued               Effective date

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
• Clarifies the treatment of the sale or 
 contribution of assets from an investor  September 2014 Annual period beginning on or
 to its associate or joint venture.  after 1 January 2016

• Consolidation exception for   Annual period beginning on or
 investment entities December 2014 after 1 January 2016

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
• Requires an acquirer of an interest 
 in a joint operation in which the 
 activity constitutes a business to apply May 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
 all of the business combination   after 1 January 2016
 accounting principles and disclose 
 information required by IFRSs for 
 business combination.  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
• Consolidation exception for   Annual period beginning on or
 investment entities December 2014 after 1 January 2016

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
• Amendments resulting from Annual 
 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 
 (Clarifies measurement of certain  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 short-term receivables and payables   after 1 July 2014
 on an undiscounted basis)
  
• Annual Improvements 2011-2013 
 Cycle (Clarifies scope of the portfolio  December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
 exception in paragraph 52  after 1 July 2014

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
• Provides a single, principles based  May 2014 Applicable to an entity’s first
 five-step model to be applied to all  annual IFRS Financial   
 contracts with customers  statements for a period   
   beginning on or after 
   1 January 2017
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
• Amendments resulting from Annual 
 Improvements 2012-2014 (Amendments 
 to address perceived impediments to  September 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
 preparers exercising their judgments in   after 1 July 2016
 presenting their Financial reports)  

29
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Pronouncement Issued               Effective date

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
• Amendments resulting from
  Annual Improvements 2010-2012   
  Cycle (proportionate restatement of December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or
  accumulated depreciation on  after 1 July 2014 
  revaluation)       
 
• Amends the definition of a bearer 
  plant and requires biological assets 
  that meet the definition of a bearer  June 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
  plant to be accounted for as property,   after 1 January 2016
  plant and equipment in accordance 
  with this standard       
 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits
• Amendments clarifies the 
  requirements that relate to how 
  contributions from employees or November 2013 Annual periods beginning on or 
  third parties that are linked to service  after 1 July 2014 
  should be attributed to periods of service.
 
• Amendments resulting from Annual 
  Improvements 2012-2014 
  (Clarifies high quality bonds used in  September 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
  estimating the discount rate)  after 1 July 2016

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
• Amendments resulting from Annual 
  Improvements 2010-2012 
  Cycle (management entities) December 2013 Annual periods beginning on or   
    after 1 July 2014
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
• Amends to permit investments in 
  subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
  associate to be optionally accounted  August  2014 Annual periods beginning on or
  for using the equity method.  after 1 January 2016

IAS 28 Investment in Associate and Joint Ventures
• Clarifies the treatment of the sale 
  or contribution of assets from an  September 2014 Annual period beginning on or
  investor to its associate or joint venture.  after 1 January 2016

• Consolidation exception for investment 
  entities December 2014 Annual period beginning on or   
    after 1 January 2016
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2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective (Continued)

Pronouncement    Issued                Effective date

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
• Amendments resulting from 
 Annual Improvements 2012-2014 
 (Clarifies the meaning of    September 2014 Annual periods beginning on or
 ‘elsewhere in the interim report’     after 1 July 2016 
 and require a cross reference.)   
          

IAS 38 Intangible Assets
• Amendments resulting from 
 Annual Improvements 2010-2012 
 Cycle (proportionate restatement of  December 2013  Annual periods beginning on or
 accumulated depreciation       after 1 July 2014
 on revaluation)             

   
  
IAS 40 Investment Property
• Amendments resulting from 
 Annual Improvements 2011-2013 
 Cycle (interrelationship between I  December 2013  Annual periods beginning on or
 FRS 3 and IAS 40)       after 1 July 2014

IAS 41 Agriculture  
• Clarifies that produce growing on 
 bearer plants remains within the   June 2014  Annual periods beginning on or
 scope of IAS 41       after 1 January 2016

The directors anticipate that other than IFRS 13 and IFRS 9, these Standards and Interpretations in future periods 
will have no significant impact on the financial statements of the company.  IFRS 9 will impact the measurement 
of financial instruments whilst IFRS 13 will affect fair value disclosures.

3. Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 
 
 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments which are disclosed at valuation. No other procedures are adopted to reflect the impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of specific price changes or changes in the general level of prices. 

3.1 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate financial statements of FDH Bank Limited which is 

engaged in the business of commercial banking and its 100% owned subsidiary, the FDH Money Bureau 
Limited, which is engaged in foreign currency trading.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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3. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

 Basis of preparation (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
as at 31 December 2014. Subsidiaries are entities over which the bank has control.  Control is achieved 
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date 
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders 
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group 
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained 

earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.

3.2 Business combination
Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method.  The cost of business 
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities 
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any 
costs directly attributable to the business combination.  

The acquiree’s identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
IFRS 3 Business combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current 
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non- current assets held 
for sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell. 

Goodwill arising from acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised if, after  reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent exceeds the cost of the business combination, the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.  

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority proportion of the net fair 
value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.3 Foreign Currencies
 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Malawi Kwacha (rounded to the nearest 

thousand), the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates and its 
functional currency.

  
 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions in currencies other than Malawi Kwacha 

(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At each statement of financial position date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date. Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date 
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences 
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or 
loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

3.4 Plant and equipment
 Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

 Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates that will reduce book amounts to 
estimated residual values over the anticipated useful lives of the assets.

 
 The assets’ residual values, useful lives, and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, at each reporting date.

 Subsequent expenditure on an asset is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in an item of plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in profit and loss as an 
expense as incurred.

3.5 Intangible assets
 Intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation 

is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill 
 At each statement of financial position date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.  Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets 
are also allocated to individual cash generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill (Continued)

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.7 Financial instruments
 The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. 
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair 

value through profit or loss at inception. 

 A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 
of selling in the short term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial investments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profit 
taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. 

ii Loans and receivables 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services 
directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.

iii Held-to-maturity 
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability 
to hold to maturity. Were the Group to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity 
assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available for sale.
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.7 Financial instruments (Continued)

iv Available-for-sale 
  Available-for-sale investments include those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or 
equity prices.

  “Regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to 
maturity and available for sale are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where 
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

  Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are 
included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, until the financial 
asset is derecognised or impaired. At this time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
equity is recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest rate 
method and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available for sale 
are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised 
in profit or loss when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

3.8    Offsetting financial instruments 
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 

when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

3.9 Impairment of financial assets

(a)  Assets carried at amortised cost 
   The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence 

that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of events that have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention 
of the Group about the following loss events:

 
• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; 
• A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)  Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

• The Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 
• The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; 

and
• Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including: 

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; and
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment 
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 
interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment 
on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. 

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset 
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, 
whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of 
similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers asset 
type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those 
characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets 
being evaluated. 
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.9  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)  Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

 Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 
estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Group and historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Group. Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current 
conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. 

 Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be consistent with 
changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment 
rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of 
losses in the Group and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating 
future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experienced. 

 When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. 
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount 
of the loss has been determined. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
 The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any 
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on 
that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised 
in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments are not 
reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument 
classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, 
the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.10 Financial liabilities and equity
 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance 

of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after deducting all of the liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities 
and equity instruments are set out below;

i. Liabilities to customers and financial institutions
 These are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration 

received) net of transaction costs incurred. They are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any 
difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in 
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

ii Balances due to banks abroad
 Balances due to banks abroad represent cash liabilities to correspondent banks and are carried 

at fair value on recognition and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method.

iii Other payables
 Other payables comprise letters of credit and sundry accruals which are carried at fair value on 

recognition and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

iv Equity instruments
 Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the face value of proceeds received.

3.11 Sale and repurchase agreements 
 Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (‘repos’) are reclassified in the financial statements as 

pledged assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral; 
the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other deposits 
or deposits due to customers, as appropriate. 

 Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as loans and advances 
to other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated 
as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest rate method. Securities 
lent to counterparties are also retained in the consolidated financial statements. 

3.12 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise treasury bills maturing within 3 months, cash balances and funds 

with Reserve Bank of Malawi and call deposits with other banks and discount houses that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.13 Other receivables
 Other receivables comprise prepayments and sundry non-trade receivables and are stated at their cost 

less impairment losses.
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (constructive or legal) as a result 
of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Liabilities that do not meet this recognition criteria 
are disclosed in the financial statements as contingent liabilities. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the statement of financial position date.  Where a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.15 Assets classified as held for sale
Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be 
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as completed within one year 
from the date of classification.

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the asset’s previous carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell.

3.16 Revenue recognition 

3.16.1 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all instruments 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, 
prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and 
rewards paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an 
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)

3.16.2 Fees and commissions income
 Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. 

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related 
direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Loan syndication 
fees are recognised as revenue when the syndication has been completed and the Group retains no part 
of the loan package for itself or retains a part at the same effective interest rate for the other participants. 
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a 
third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or 
sale of businesses – are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

3.16.3 Sale of foreign exchange
 Revenue from the sale of foreign currency is recognised once the foreign currency cash or    
 cheques are delivered and consideration received.

3.16.4 Other banking services
 Revenue from the provision of other banking services is recognized once the related service is 
 completed.

3.17 Taxation
 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
 
 Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised.  Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises 
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilise the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.   
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3. Accounting policies (Continued)

3.17 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive 
income, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.18 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating 
units expected to benefit from synergies of the business combinations.  Cash generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is an 
indication that the unit may be impaired.  If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
a subsequent period. 
   
On disposal of a subsidiary the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal.

3.19 Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. Contributions to the scheme are 
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

3.20 Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit for the year and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue throughout the year. Where new equity shares have been issued by way of 
capitalisation or subdivision, the profit is apportioned over the shares in issue after the capitalisation or 
subdivision and the corresponding figures for all earlier periods are adjusted accordingly.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies described above (note 3) management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
available from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which an estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1 Critical judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies
Critical judgements made by the directors during the current period which would have a material impact 
on the financial statements relate to the recoverability of loans and advances to customers.  The details 
of provisions made and credit risk management policies are outlined in notes 12 and 25 below.

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.2.1 Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated.  The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate 
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash generating units and a suitable discount rate in 
order to calculate the present value.

4.2.2 Useful lives and residual values of property and equipment
 The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and residual values of plant and equipment at the end of 

each annual reporting period. These estimates are subjective by nature as they require assessment of 
financial and non-financial information in arriving at the residual values and useful lives which can only 
be borne out by future events.

4.2.3 Impairment losses on loans and advances 
 The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment, at least, on a quarterly basis. In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Group 
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified 
with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there 
has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment 
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. 

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows 
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

Key assumptions used:

a) Cash flows arising from repayment agreement are aggregated over yearly intervals and assumed  
 to arise at the end of the period; 
b) Where there is an agreement but no security in place and cash flows in the subsequent years are  
 doubtful, total future estimated cash flows are assumed to be nil;
c) Unsupported guarantees are assumed to result in nil cash flows;
d) No cash flows are assumed to arise where there is no repayment agreement and no security and  
 repayments are erratic or unpredictable; and
e) Cash flows arising from security realisation have been assumed to arise at the end of the calendar  
 year in which they are expected.
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 Group Bank 
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
5. Net interest income

 Interest income
 Interest on loans and advances 6 827 870 6 335 834 6 856 749 6 453 682
 Interest on money market investments     1 825 813   1 104 558   1 825 813   1 104 558 
      
 Total interest income 8 653 683 7 440 392 8 682 562 7 558 240 
         
 Interest expense

 Interest on Shareholders’ loan (346 312) - (346 312) -
 Money market and customers   (4 778 163) (5 736 620)   (4 778 163) (5 736 620) 
      
 Net interest income             3 529 208   1 703 772 3 558 087   1 821 620 
    
6. Commissions and other fee income

 Commissions 6 530 726 3 058 333 6 197 821 2 677 451 
 Arrangement fee income 186 060 170 600 186 060 170 600 
 Other income      594 183     371 209     591 356     370 607 
      
 Total commission and fee income            7 310 969  3 600 142  6 975 237  3 218 658 
     
7. Profit before tax

 Profit before tax is arrived at after
 taking into account the following:

 Auditor’s remuneration 25 508   27 114 22 156 23 121
 Depreciation of plant and equipment 429 726 325 690 420 340 312 388
 Amortisation of intangible assets 94 680 79 733 94 680 79 733
 Profit on disposal of equipment (4 371) (3 420) (4 371) (3 420)
 Director’s fees and expenses 43 741 36 913 34 302 27 287
 Pension contributions                     221 972   136 704    206 113   123 081 
   
8. Taxation
  
 Income tax 1 510 935 450 1 503 184 -
 Deferred tax        (34 085)    40 264      (32 209)   41 572

 Taxation   1 476 850    40 714  1 470 975   41 572
 
 Reconciliation of rate of tax % % % %
 Standard rate of tax 30 30 30 30
 Permanent differences                 1           66              1           37 
    
 Effective rate of tax                31           96            31          67  
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 Group Bank
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

9. Cash and funds with 
 the Reserve Bank of Malawi

                                                                                   
Cash on hand 1 108 485 1 718 661 1 108 485 1 701 039
  
Currency inventories at subsidiary 115 908 102 570 - -
Balances with Reserve Bank of Malawi        7 045 816  4 187 021    7 045 816   4 187 021
  
 8 270 209  6 008 252   8 154 301   5 888 060 
   
Balances held at Reserve Bank of Malawi are denominated in other currencies including Malawi Kwacha (as 
detailed on 27e) and are non-interest bearing. 

10. Malawi Government Treasury Bills and Reserve Bank of Malawi Bonds
    
Government Treasury Bills   10 950 834   4 475 929  10 950 834   4 475 929  
  
Bills and bonds are due to mature as follows:

• Within 3 months 8 017 218 2 461 323 8 017 218 2 461 323 
• Over 3 months    2 933 616  2 014 606    2 933 616   2 014 606 

Total 10 950 834  4 475 929  10 950 834   4 475 929 

11. Placements with other banks
    
Balances with banks abroad 4 544 781 4 151 157 4 544 781 4 151 157 
Balances with local banks   2 002 740   2 900 000   2 002 740   2 900 000 
 
 6 547 521   7 051 157  6 547 521   7 051 157 
  
The foreign currency amounts as at
end of the year were as follows:

US Dollar denominated 3 323 716 3 076 125 3 243 870 3 076 125
GBP denominated 59 714 615 719 59 714 615 719
Euro denominated 1 254 227 453 780 1 252 291 453 780
ZAR denominated    6 163 3 924   6 163 3 924
JPY denominated               80         1 609                  80         1 609
 
 4 643 900  4 151 157  4 562 118  4 151 157 
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 Group Bank
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

12. Loans and advances to customers

Gross loans and advances 21 002 370 18 219 557 21 168 913 18 392 435 
Total provisions as at end of the year   (2 099 279)   (1 927 014)   (2 099 279)   (1 927 014) 
   
Net loans and advances   18 903 091   16 292 543  19 069 634   16 465 421  
    

Movement in provisions
At the beginning of the year  1 927 014    520 629 1 927 014 520 629 
Write offs (713 619) (301 260) (713 679) (301 260)
Recoveries (297 919)  (27 851)      (297 919) (27 851)       
Additional provisions   1 183 803  1 735 496   1 183 803   1 735 496

At the end of the year   2 099 279  1 927 014   2 099 279   1 927 014 
   
       
Principal and interest past due but not impaired
 
Past due amounts principal 391 807 262 415 391 807 262 415
Past due amounts interest 729 206 170 599 729 206 170 599
Non-accruals basis principal 1 857 848 1 244 265 1 857 848 1 244 265
Non-accrual basis interest     705 694     846 297     705 694     846 297

 3 684 555 2 523 576 3 684 555 2 523 576
Amounts past due and impaired (2 099 279) (1 927 014) (2 099 279) (1 927 014) 

Amounts past due but not impaired   1 585 276      596 562   1 585 276      596 562
 

The maturity profile of loans and advances is outlined in note 27c to the consolidated financial statements. The 
Malawi Kwacha base-lending rate for the Bank as at 31 December 2014 was 39% (2013: 39.75%).

The Bank’s credit risk is primarily attributed to overdraft and other loan facilities extended to its customers. 
The amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net of provisions for doubtful debts as shown 
above. The specific provision represents allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired.
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13. Related parties 

Related party balances as at year end were as follows:-
 Amounts owed Amounts owed
 to related by related
 parties parties
 MK’000 MK’000
 
Bank
2013   
FDH Money Bureau Limited              -    85 431

Bank balances
First Discount House Limited 34 458 -
FDH Stockbrokers Limited 26 975 -
FDH Financial Holdings Limited 177 -
FDH Money Bureau Limited (248 858)     (172 878)
 
2014   

FDH Stockbrokers Limited             87                   -

Bank balances
First Discount House Limited 111 373 -
FDH Stockbrokers Limited 25 509 -
FDH Financial Holdings Limited 101 078 -
FDH Money Bureau Limited 82 291     (166 543)
 
The above balances are deposits with FDH Bank Limited included in liabilities to customers. 

Group
2013   
 
Bank balances
First Discount House Limited 34 458 -
FDH Stockbrokers Limited 26 975 -
FDH Financial Holdings Limited              177               -
 
2014   
Bank balances

FDH Stockbrokers Limited             87               -

First Discount House Limited 111 373 -
FDH Stockbrokers Limited 25 509 -
FDH Financial Holdings Limited        101 078               -
 
The above balances are deposits with FDH Bank Limited included in liabilities to customers.
 
Included in FDH Bank Limited and Group expense is financial advisory fees amounting to K 172 million paid to 
FDH financial Holdings Limited.
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13. Related parties (Continued)
        Group Bank 
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 
Included in loans and advances at 31 
December 2014 are the following 
related party balances:

Tembenu Masumbu and Company 27 977 26 872 27 977 26 872
International Power Control Systems Limited - 7 686 - 7 686
Capital Spur Limited - 1 075 593 - 1 075 593
Orascon Continental Security Services 44 297 49 940 44 297 49 940
FDH Money Bureau Limited - - 164 526 172 100
KKM Holdings Limited 6 681 6 789 6 681 6 789
Reunion Insurance Company                                    - 29 880 - 29 880
Malawi Property Investment Company 296 320 292 314 296 320 292 314
Wezi Medical Centre Limited 7 624 14 193 7 624 14 193
A & J Construction 19 917 - 19 917 -
Senior Management  187 921 21 148 187 921 21 148
Directors     66 424       39 504       66 424      39 504

Total   657 161  1 563 412   821 687 1 736 019
 
The following transactions were conducted with related parties: -
            
Interest payable
First Discount House Limited -       34 481              -       34 481
 
Interest receivable
FDH Money Bureau Limited - - 28 879 117 849
Tembenu Masumbu and Company 8 457 7 004 8 457 7 004
International Power Control Systems 674 4 442 674 4 442
Capital Spur Limited - 130 598 - 130 598
FDH Money Bureau Limited - - - 172 100
KKM Holdings Limited 2 867 2 421 2 867 2 421
Reunion Insurance Company                                    19 135 13 749 19 135 13 749
Orascon Continental Security Services 19 791 17 242 19 791 17 242
Malawi Property Investment Company Limited 113 331 95 768 113 331 95 768
We Medical Centre Limited 8 573 2 092 8 573 2 092
A & J Construction 763 640 763 640
Senior management 28 793 7 389 28 793 7 389
Directors      24 577           269      24 577           269
 
Total    226 961    281 614    255 440    571 563 
 
Rent payable
T. F. Mpinganjira Trust      44 324      44 324      44 324      44 324 
    
Compensation of key management personnel
Current period earnings and short-term benefits    389 009    305 607    359 470    287 576

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

48



FDH BANK LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2014     Grow With Us

 Group         Bank 
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 
 

14. Other receivables and prepayments

Sundry receivables  646 749 411 317 646 749 411 317 
Prepayments     333 446   339 149    308 769   317 284 
 
Total     980 195   750 466    955 518   728 601 
                 

15. Investment in subsidiary

 Details of the Group’s subsidiary at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

   Place of        Proportion of ownership
   incorporation      Interest and voting power
Name of subsidiary  Principal activity and operation            by the Group
               31/12/2014 31/12/2013

FDH Money Bureau Foreign currency trading Umoyo House Blantyre        100%          100%
                                                    
Included in the profit for the year is a profit of K12.2million (2013 loss: K4.2million) attributable to the operations 
of FDH Money Bureau Limited.

16. Equipment
    Capital
 Computer Motor Furniture work in 
 equipment vehicles and fittings progress Total
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Bank
2013
Cost
At the beginning of the year         182 625  308 615   1 075 752   458 208 2 025 200
Transfers 49 948   -  371 315   (421 263) -
Additions 72 364    191 580   131 261   71 295 466 500
Disposals         (195)        (7 642)       (4 693)              -     (12 530)

At 31 December 2013    304 702 492 553   1 573 635    108 240 2 479 170

Depreciation
At the beginning of the year           68 585     96 442   229 246               -     394 273
Charge for the year 47 949     75 835   188 604                     -         312 388
Disposals                                         (348)       (6 818)               -              -         (7 166)
                            
At 31 December 2013  116 186  165 459      417 850               -    699 495
     
Net book value
At 31 December 2013  188 556 327 094       1 155 785             108 240 1 779 675
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16. Equipment (Continued)
     Capital

 Computer Motor Furniture work in 
 equipment vehicles and fittings progress Total
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Bank
2014
Cost
At the beginning of the year         304 742 492 553 1 573 635 108 240 2 479 170
Transfers 1 677 - 549 404 (551 081) -
Additions 117 643 119 171 270 095 520 130 1 027 039
Disposals       (1 293)     (30 839)                   -               -       (32 132)

At 31 December 2014     422 769     580 885    2 393 134     77 289    3 474 077

Depreciation
At the beginning of the year         116 186 165 459 417 850 - 699 495
Charge for the year 64 800 117 411 238 129 - 420 340
Disposals                                           (312)    (13 431)                -             -     (13 743)
                            
At 31 December 2014    180 674   269 439     655 979             - 1 106 092 
     
Net book value
At 31 December 2014    242 095    311 446  1 737 155    77 289  2 367 985

Group 
2013
Cost
At the beginning of the year         192 146    322 749   1 125 487   463 716 2 104 098
Transfers 49 948                     -            376 823 (426 771)   -
Additions 73 017    191 580   135 743   71 295 471 635
Disposals         (195)     (7 642)       (4 693)              -     (12 530)
 
At 31 December 2013   314 916           506 687   1 633 360     108 240 2 563 203

Depreciation
At the beginning of the year           72 605     101 400    244 607                -    418 612
Charge for the year 49 874 79 048 196 769 - 325 691
Disposals          (348)       (6 818)                -               -      (7 166)

At 31 December 2013     122 131    173 630       441 376              -   737 137
     
Net book value
At 31 December 2013     192 785    333 057   1 191 984   108 240  1 826 066
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16. Equipment (Continued)
     Capital
  Computer Motor Furniture work in 
  equipment vehicles and fittings progress Total
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Group
2014
Cost
At the beginning of the year         314 916 506 687 1 633 360 108 240 2 563 203
Transfers 1 677 - 549 404 (551 081) -
Additions 117 267 119 171 267 636 520 130 1 024 204
Disposals      (1 293)     (30 839)                 -              -     (32 132)
 
At 31 December 2014   432 567     595 019   2 450 400     77 289 3 555 275

Depreciation
At the beginning of the year         122 131 173 630 441 376 - 737 137
Charge for the year 65 629 119 676 244 421 - 429 726
Disposals          (312)    (13 431)                -             -      (13 743)

At 31 December 2014    187 448   279 875     685 797             - 1 153 120
     
Net book value
At 31 December 2014 245 119   315 144 1 764 603    77 289 2 402 155
 
     
The useful lives that are used in the calculation of depreciation are as follows:

Computer equipment    - 5 years
Motor vehicles    - 4 years 
Office equipment   - 5 years
Furniture and fittings   - 10 years 
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17. Intangible assets (Group and Bank)

  Computer Work in 
  Software progress Total
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

2013
Cost
At the beginning of the year 282 465 109 492 391 957
Transfers 186 897 (186 897) -
Additions 2 291    217 954          220 245

At 31 December 2013 471 653    140 549   612 202

Amortisation
At the beginning of the year 113 601 - 113 601
Charge for the year 79 733                -      79 733

At 31 December 2013 193 334                -   193 334
     
 Net book value

At 31 December 2013                                  278 319               140 549  418 868

  
2014
Cost
At the beginning of the year 471 653 140 549 612 202
Additions 27 655 27 795 55 450
Transfers 74 470     (74 470)                 -

At 31 December 2014 573 778      93 874     667 652

Amortisation
At the beginning of the year 193 334 - 193 334
Charge for the year 94 680                 -       94 680

At 31 December 2014 288 014                 -     288 014
     
Net book value
At 31 December 2014                                        285 764         93 874   379 638
 
The computer software is amortised over a period of five years.
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18. Goodwill (Group)
                                                                                                                              2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000

Cost
Balance at beginning of year   131 784   131 784 
  
Balance at end of year   131 784   131 784 

Goodwill arose on the business combination because the cost of the combination included a control premium 
paid to acquire FDH Money Bureau Limited.  In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development 
and the assembled workforce of FDH Money Bureau Limited.  These benefits are not recognised separately from 
goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

Annual test for impairment
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the FDH Money Bureau Limited as a cash-
generating unit. During the period, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill, and determined that 
goodwill associated with the cash generating unit’s activities was not impaired. The recoverable amount of the 
relevant cash generating unit was assessed by reference to its value in use.

   Group     Bank  
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
19. Shareholder loan
  
 Shareholder loan –  Long-term Portion 881 250 1 175 000 881 250 1 175 000
                                             Current Portion       293 750                   -       293 750                   -

                                 Total    1 175 000    1 175 000    1 175 000    1 175 000

 The shareholder loan is in respect of a borrowing from FDH Financial Holdings Limited. The borrowing was 
for recapitalising of the Bank’s operations to meet Basel II requirements, which was effective 1 January 2014.  
Interest is payable based on the simple average yield for the past six months for the 182 day Treasury Bill (or 
its equivalent) as per Treasury bills auction results plus 5%. The loan is secured by Treasury Bills notes and is 
repayable by 29th December 2018 on an amortising basis in half yearly installments, with a moratorium of one 
year.

20. Liabilities to customers 
 
 Current accounts 8 778 871 5 357 986  8 871 998 5 606 844
 Foreign currency accounts 4 505 941 4 673 185 4 505 941 4 673 185
 Deposit accounts 23 037 179 19 089 970 23 037 179 19 089 970 
 Savings accounts     2 785 043    2 035 774    2 785 043    2 035 774 
  
 Total liabilities to financial institutions   39 107 034  31 156 915   39 200 161  31 405 773 
     

The maturity profile of liabilities to financial institutions is given in note 27(c) to the financial statements.

21. Liabilities to financial institutions
  
 Money market liabilities                 -   1 043 644                 -   1 043 644 
    

The maturity profile of liabilities to financial institutions is given in note 27(c) to the financial statements.
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   Group Bank  
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
22. Payables and accruals
 
 Sundry accruals 1 138 584 650 249 1 079 624 495 155
             Audit fees 19 854 10 325 18 097 8 897
 Gratuity 741 - 741 - 
 Staff pension payable 25 086 19 024 23 590 17 555 
 Withholding tax payable       17 146     12 342        16 918    12 114 
    
             Total payables and accruals                           1 201 411   691 940   1 138 970 533 721
 
23. Deferred tax asset and liability      

 Deferred tax liability analysed as follows: 
 Accelerated capital allowances  (186 075) (148 093) (186 075) (146 946) 
 Other temporary differences       100 358      29 168     100 358     29 020
  
 Total deferred tax liability     (85 717)   (118 925)      (85 717)  (117 926)
 

             Deferred tax asset analysed as follows: 
 Accelerated capital allowances  729 - - - 
 Other temporary differences            149                -                -               -
  
 Total deferred tax asset          878                -                -              -
      
                                                      
24. Contingent liabilities
   Group Bank  
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
   
 Local guarantees and performance bonds 1 840 178    350 200 1 840 178    350 200 
 

In the normal course of its business, the Group has issued guarantees in favour of third parties on behalf of their 
clients. These guarantees only give rise to a liability for the Bank in the event that the clients default on payment to 
the third parties. As a result, and after due assessment, these guarantees have not been recognised as liabilities 
at the year end.
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25. Financial assets and liabilities
 
 Accounting classifications and fair values 
     Other Total
  Held for Loans and amortised carrying fair
  trading receivables cost amount value
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
 Bank
 At 31 December 2013
 Assets
 Cash and bank balances with
 Reserve Bank of Malawi 5 888 060 - - 5 888 060 5 888 060
 Malawi Government Treasury 
 Bills and Reserve Bank bond - - 4 475 929 4 475 929 4 475 929
 Placements with other banks                    - 7 051 157 - 7 051 157 7 051 157
 Loans and advances to customers             - 16 465 421 - 16 465 421 16 465 421
 Other receivables
 and prepayments                 -      814 032                 -      814 032      814 032
 
 Total financial assets  5 888 060 24 330 610   4 475 929 34 694 599 34 694 599
 
 Liabilities
 Shareholder loan - - 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000
 Liabilities due to customers - - 31 405 773 31 405 773 31 405 773
 Liabilities to financial institutions - - 1 043 644 1 043 644 1 043 644
 Payables and accruals                 -                 -      533 721     533 721     533 721
 Total financial liabilities                 -                 - 34 158 138 34 158 138 34 158 138

 Bank
 At 31 December 2014
 Assets
 Cash and bank balances with 
 Reserve Bank of Malawi 8 154 301 - - 8 154 301 8 154 301
 Malawi Government Treasury 
 Bills and Reserve Bank bond - - 10 950 834 10 950 834 10 950 834
 
 Placements with other banks - 6 547 521 - 6 547 521 6 547 521
 Loans and advances to customers - 19 069 634 - 19 069 634 19 069 634
 Other receivables
 and prepayments                 -      955 518                   -        955 518        955 518
 
 Total financial assets  8 154 301 26 572 673   10 950 834   45 677 808   45 677 808
 
 Liabilities
 Shareholder loan - - 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000
 Liabilities due to customers - - 39 200 161 39 200 161 39 200 161
 Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - -
 Payables and accruals               -                 -    1 138 970     1 138 970   1 138 970

 Total financial liabilities               -                 - 41 514 131 41 514 131 41 514 131
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25. Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
 
 Accounting classifications and fair values (Continued)
  Other Total
  Held for Loans and amortised carrying Fair
  trading receivables cost amount value
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

 Group
 At 31 December 2013
 Assets
 Cash and bank balances with
 Reserve Bank of Malawi 102 570 5 905 682 - 6 008 252 6 008 252
 Malawi Government Treasury 
 Bills and Reserve Bank bond - - 4 475 929 4 475 929 4 475 929
 Placements with other banks                       -   7 051 157 - 7 051 157 7 051 157
 Loans and advances to customers - 16 292 543 - 16 292 543 16 292 543
 Other receivables
 and prepayments                 -      750 466                 -      750 466      750 466
  Total financial assets     102 570 29 999 848     4 475 929 34 578 347 34 578 347
 
 Liabilities
 Shareholder loan - - 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000
 Liabilities due to customers - - 31 156 915 31 156 915 31 156 915
 Liabilities to financial institutions - - 1 043 644 1 043 644 1 043 644
 Payables and accruals               -                 -       691 940      691 940      691 940
 Total financial liabilities               -                -  34 067 499 34 067 499 34 067 499

Group
 At 31 December 2014
 Assets
 Cash and bank balances with
 Reserve Bank of Malawi - 8 270 209 - 8 270 209 8 270 209
 Malawi Government Treasury  
 Bills and Reserve Bank bond - - 10 950 834 10 950 834 10 950 834
 Placements with other banks          - 6 547 521 - 6 547 522 6 547 521
 Loans and advances to customers - 18 903 091 - 18 903 091 18 903 091
 Other receivables
 and prepayments              -       980 195                   -       980 195      980 195
 
 Total financial assets              -  34 701 016   10 950 834   45 651 850 45 651 850
 
 Liabilities
 Shareholder loan - - 1 175 000 1 175 000 1 175 000
 Liabilities due to customers - - 39 107 034 39 107 034 39 107 034
 Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - -
 Payables and accruals               -                 -   1 201 412    1 201 412    1 201 412

 Total financial liabilities               -                 - 41 483 446  41 483 446  41 483 446
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26. Fair value measurements

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and 
financial liabilities. 
  
26.1 Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

 The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values

 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 
active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices (includes listed redeemable 
notes, bills of exchange, debentures and perpetual notes).

• The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are 
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis 
using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

26.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

 The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

    Group Bank
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Non-derivative financial assets held for trading 
 
Level 1     115 908    102 570               -              - 
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26. Fair value measurements (Continued)

26.3 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis

 Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period.  The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial 
liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). 

 Group
    Valuation
    technique(s)
 Financial assets/financial  Fair value Valuation and
 liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy key input(s)

  2014 2013

 Currency inventory     115 908    102 570 Level 1 Quoted prices 

27.   Financial risk management 

a) Introduction and overview 

 FDH Bank board of directors is ultimately responsible for management of risk in the group. The board delegates 
certain functions and responsibilities relating to risk and capital management to the Risk and Capital Management 
Committee, the Board Credit Committee and the Board Finance and Audit Committee. 

 Day-to-day risk management responsibility is delegated to Exco and its sub-committees which comprise of Assets 
and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), Operational Risk and Compliance Management Committee (ORCC), Credit 
Risk Management Committee (CRMC) and New Products Committee (NPC). The line management functions 
within the bank are responsible for managing the risks that arise from the respective operations. 

 The role of the CRMC is to ensure compliance with the board’s directives which are based on the bank’s credit 
standard.  CRMC effectively enhances the credit discipline within the bank and is responsible for controlling inter 
alia delegated authorities, concentration risk, non-performing debt, regulatory issues that pertain to credit, credit 
audits, policy and governance.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

a) Introduction and overview (Continued)

Effective risk management should provide complete, timely, accurate and relevant information to enhance senior 
management decision making ability to:

• Calculate risk adjusted performance measures;
• Manage volatility in earnings;
• Minimise financial distress; and
• Help appraise new business initiatives on a comparable basis.

Governance standards have been established as key components of good governance and business practice 
in FDH Bank Ltd. The standards form an integral part of the control infrastructure and represents a high-level 
description of the expectations and requirements of the board in respect of risk appetite, risk reporting and key 
areas of control activity within FDH Bank and business units.
FDH Bank has approved policies and procedures in place which have been approved by the board and these 
include:

• Credit policy;
• Market and Trading book policy
• Liquidity risk policy;
• Market risk policy; and
• Operational risk policy.

Identification of material risks is a process overseen by the Chief Risk Officer, with involvement from the business 
units. In addition, the approach to quantifying the capital requirements for each of the risks will be discussed and 
noted at a quarterly review meeting, as well as at the monthly ALCO. Risk and Capital Management Committee 
is responsible for the analysis of capital requirements and the effective utilisation of capital. In the determination 
of what risks are considered material to the bank, cognizance is taken of:

• Regular risk and control self-assessments performed by management which identify risks that   
could threaten the achievement of business objectives;
• History of losses as well as potential future losses;
• Those risks to which significant amounts of  regulatory capital is allocated; and
• The definition of materiality thresholds which are advised by the regulations.

Based on the above-mentioned criteria the following primary risk types are considered by FDH Bank Ltd to be 
material:

• Credit risk, including country and concentration risk;
• Market risk, including interest rate risk in the banking book;
• Operational risk;
• Capital risk;
• Liquidity risk; and
• Business risk, including strategic risk, reputational risk
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

a) Introduction and overview (Continued)

 
The Board of Directors (The Board)
The board takes ultimate responsibility for management of risk and is required to ensure that an effective risk management 
process exists and is maintained throughout the bank. The board appoints board members to four separate board sub-
committees to assist in discharging its duties in relation to the management of risk. The sub-committees are chaired by 
a non-executive director to maintain, as best practice requires, the independence and objectivity of the function. The 
Chief Risk Officer, Heads of Credit, Internal Audit, IT and Compliance also have direct access to the Chairpersons of the 
relevant sub-committees.

Executive management committee (Exco) 
The Managing Director (MD) has the authority to manage the bank within the constraints laid down by the board of 
directors. Therefore, the executive management committee is constituted to assist the MD to manage the bank. Exco 
meets at least monthly.

The Finance and Audit Committee (F&A)
The committee meets at least four times a year. The committee is comprised of five non-executive directors. The role 
of the committee is to provide an independent evaluation of the adequacy and efficiency of the bank’s internal control 
systems, accounting practices, information systems and auditing processes. Communication between the Board, 
executive management, internal audit, and external audit is encouraged. The committee liaises with the external and 
internal auditors on accounting procedures and on the adequacy of controls and information systems, and reviews the 
financial statements, considers loss reports on major defalcations, and the bank’s compliance plan for effectiveness.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

a) Introduction and overview (Continued)

Board Credit Risk Committee (CRC)
This committee meets quarterly. The committee is comprised of five non-executive directors. The Board Credit 
Committee is tasked with the overall review of the bank’s lending policies. At each meeting, the committee directs, 
monitors, reviews and considers all issues that may materially impact on the present and future quality of the 
bank’s credit risk management. It ensures that there are effective procedures to identify irregular credit facilities, 
minimize credit losses and maximize recoveries. The committee analyses and authorizes any transactions above 
the authorized limits of the credit risk management committee.

Appointments and Remuneration Committee (ARM)
The committee meets four times a year. The committee is comprised of five non-executive directors. The 
committee considers all human resources issues including recruitment policy, industrial relations, succession 
planning, safety and health and remuneration terms and packages for management and staff.

Risk & Capital Management Committee (RCMC)
The committee meets four times a year. The committee is comprised of five non-executive directors. The 
committee reviews and assesses the integrity of the risk control systems and ensures that risk policies and 
strategies are effectively identified, managed and monitored in order to contribute to a climate of discipline and 
control, which will reduce the opportunity of risk, including fraud, in all areas of operation. The RCMC also reviews 
the capital position and approves risk appetite; reviews stress testing results and consider the adequacy of 
mitigating actions if required.

Management Committees
Credit Risk Management Committee (CRMC)
The Board Credit Committee recognizes the expertise of appointed credit functions and expert committees 
of FDH Bank Ltd. Accordingly certain oversight functions and management participations are authorised and 
delegated to the credit risk management committee by the board credit risk committee.

The CRMC is a senior management credit decision-making function within a defined delegated authority as 
determined by the board from time to time. This committee effectively enhances the credit disciplines within 
the bank and is responsible for controlling inter alia delegated authorities, concentration risk, distressed debt, 
regulatory issues that pertain to credit, credit audits, policy and governance. The committee meets at least once 
a month – on a scheduled or ad hoc basis depending on business imperatives – and is chaired by the Head of 
Credit.

Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO)
ALCO meets on a monthly basis to monitor and control and manage all trading book risk and banking book liquidity 
risk and interest rate risk in accordance with the bank’s risk appetite, review limit, guideline or trigger breaches 
and agree remedial actions in order to align exposures with agreed appetite, approve Market Risk, Liquidity Risk 
and Banking Book Interest Rate Risk Policies; together with key procedure documents, set market risk limits 
and monitors compliance thereto, but does not take decisions on trading or banking book positioning, designate 
certain positions which should be held as endowment hedges , approve the bank’s Liquidity Contingency Plan, 
review regulatory capital adequacy, review and note the impact of internal and external factors on the net interest 
margin for the banks within the scope of ALCO, ensure that effective capital management governance is in place, 
ensure that FDH Bank is adequately capitalized given risks assumed (including stressed), minimum regulatory 
capital requirements and business plans, ensure that capital requirements are structured in a way that optimizes 
current and future returns to shareholders. ALCO members consist of senior management and the committee is 
chaired by the Managing Director.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

a) Introduction and overview (Continued)

 New Products Committee (NPC)
 The New Products Committee is a senior management committee chaired by the Head of Operations. The 

Committee meets as and when required to facilitate the introduction of new products, services, businesses, legal 
entities, systems or processes in a coordinated and effective manner that is consistent with the bank’s overall 
strategic, business, and risk management focus. 

 The Committee exercises proper oversight and ensures action has been taken to ensure that any significant risks 
that could arise from the introduction or amendment of businesses, products or services, systems and processes 
are properly identified and appropriately addressed by the relevant parties prior to implementation.

 Operational Risk and Compliance Management Committee (ORCC)

 The Risk Management and Compliance teams provide the day to day oversight on compliance and management 
of risk and promotes the risk/compliance culture across the bank. The ORCC is responsible to create and maintain 
the risk and compliance practices across the bank as defined by group risk and to ensure that controls are in place 
for all risk categories. The compliance and risk management teams maintain objectivity by being independent of 
operations and in addition they have dual direct reporting lines into the Managing Director and Group Holdings 
CEO.

 Internal Audit
 The primary purpose of Internal Audit is to prevent the demise of the bank by highlighting potential and emerging 

risks to management and ensuring that the bank is not put unduly in harm’s way. This entails that Internal 
Audit should understand the business environment, strategy and operating models in order to determine what 
controls should be in place to manage the risk profile within acceptable norms and where the bank takes on 
risk, it should be informed and managed. Internal Audit is directly accountable to the Board Finance and Audit 
Committee. Internal Audit provides a continuous assessment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the bank’s 
processes for controlling its activities, managing its risks and ensuring good governance. It reports and provides 
recommendations on significant issues related to the risk management, control and governance processes within 
the bank.

b) Credit risk
 Credit risk is the probability that a financial obligation will not be honoured by a counterparty and exists in lending 

and other trading activities. The risk covers both statement of financial position and off statement of financial 
position activities.

 
 The Group mitigates credit risk by proactively managing it.  Lending and other facilities are granted only if the 

level of risk is acceptable. This is achieved by thoroughly evaluating customers’ credit worthiness before facilities 
are granted. Even after the facilities are granted, the Group continues to monitor customers’ performance so that 
timely corrective action can be taken should circumstances demand. Various committees and structures are in 
place for sanctioning large facilities and monitoring customers’ performances.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

Management of credit risk
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to its Credit Committee 
and is responsible for oversight of the credit risk, including:

• Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit 
assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory 
and statutory requirements.

• Establishing the authorisation structure for approvals and renewals of credit facilities. Authorisation 
limits are provided to credit officers. Larger credit limits require approval by the head of credit department, 
the credit committee or the Board.

• Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The credit committee assesses all credit exposures and prepares 
a watch list which includes all those that have exceeded their limits and repayments are lagging behind. 

• Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for loans and 
advances), and by issuer, credit rating band, market liquidity and country (for investment securities).

• Reviewing compliance so that exposure limits remain within the acceptable range.

• Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout 
the Group in the management of credit risk.

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and balances with banks, treasury bills and other loans and 
advances and corporate lending. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to these assets. The credit risks 
on balances with banks and treasury bills are limited because the counterparties are institutions with high credit 
ratings.
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements
       
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial instrument. Financial instruments 
include financial instruments defined and recognised under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master 
netting and collateral agreements.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

 Management of credit risk (Continued)
 Group Bank
  2014 2013 2014 2013
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
 Gross maximum exposure
 Funds with Reserve Bank of Malawi 8 270 209 6 008 252 8 270 209 5 888 060 
 Placement with other local banks 6 547 521 7 051 157 6 547 521 7 051 157 
 Malawi Government Treasury Bills and 
 Reserve Bank of Malawi bond 10 950 834 4 475 929 10 950 834 4 475 929 
 Other receivables and prepayments 980 195 750 466 955 518 814 032 
 Loans and advances    18 903 091 16 292 543   19 069 634 16 465 421 

 Total credit risk exposure    45 651 850 34 578 347  45 793 716 34 694 599 
  

Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements in respect of the exposure through loans 
and advances above is as follows;

Commercial property 3 630 500 1 888 500 3 630 500 1 888 500 
Residential property 7 610 079 8 239 034 7 610 079 8 239 034 
Cash deposits 661 209 255 056 661 209 255 056 
Guarantees 1 210 000 250 000 1 210 000 250 000 
Investments 23 746 15 246 23 746 15 246 
Equipment and vehicles     3 076 238    3 576 238   3 076 238   3 576 238 

Total  16 211 772  14 224 074 16 211 772 14 224 074 

The Group’s policy is to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are 
used to reduce or repay the outstanding loans. 

Net exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements  
  
           
In respect of certain financial assets, the Group has legally enforceable rights to offset them with financial liabilities. 
However, in normal circumstances, there would be no intention of settling net, or of realising the financial assets 
and settling the financial liabilities simultaneously.  Consequently, the financial assets are not offset against the 
respective financial liabilities for financial reporting purposes. However, the exposure to credit risk relating to the 
respective financial assets is currently not mitigated by any asset offset arrangements.
 
The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit by sector is 
presented below: 
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

Management of credit risk (Continued)
 Group Bank
 2014 2013 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
 
Loans and advances to customers
 
Segmental analysis-Industry
Agriculture 2 705 008      2 482 230 2 705 008 2 482 230
Construction 2 002 414 950 269 2 002 414 950 269
Finance, real estate and other 
business services 1 206 725 2 708 288 1 373 267       2 881 166 
Transport, storage and communications 1 776 861 1 970 513 1 776 861 1 970 513
Wholesale and retail trade 5 274 060 3 150 735 5 274 060 3 150 735
Individuals 2 820 848           1 858 571        2 820 848 1 858 571
Manufacturing 1 861 354 1 452 327 1 861 354 1 452 327
Other services    3 355 100    3 646 624     3 355 101   3 646 624

 21 002 370  18 219 557   21 168 913  18 392 435 
        
The risk that counterparties to trading instruments might default on their obligations is monitored on an on-going 
basis. In monitoring credit risk exposure, consideration is given to trading instruments with a positive fair value 
and the volatility of the fair value of trading instruments.

To manage the level of credit risk, the Group deals with counter-parties of good credit standing, and when 
appropriate, obtains collateral.  

c)  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises where the operations of the Group cannot be funded due to mismatches in the cash flows 
of assets and liabilities within the statement of financial position. The Asset and Liability Committee reviews the 
potential for these mismatches and takes measures to alter certain maturity profiles where necessary with a 
view to minimising the impact of such mismatches.

Management of Liquidity risk

The Group has access to a diverse funding base. Funds are raised mainly from deposits and shareholders. 
This enhances funding flexibility, limits dependence on any one source of funds and generally lowers the cost of 
funds. The Group strives to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 
liabilities with a range of maturities. The Group continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring 
changes in funding required to meet business objectives. In addition the Group holds a portfolio of liquid assets 
as part of its liquidity risk management strategy. The table below analyses assets and liabilities into relevant 
maturity profiles based on the remaining period at 31 December 2014 to the contractual maturity date.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) 
  Up to 1-3 3-12 Over  Carrying
  1 month months months 1 year Total value
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Bank
At 31 December 2013
 Assets
 Cash and funds with 
 Reserve Bank of Malawi 5 888 060 - - - 5 888 060 5 888 060
 Placements with other banks 7 051 157 - - - 7 051 157 7 051 157
 Malawi Government Treasury Bills
 and Reserve Bank of Malawi bond       230 346  2 320 138     2 393 264               - 4 943 748 4 475 929
 Loans and advances to customers 4 890 812 1 132 376     5 139 685    6 813 593 17 976 466 16 465 421
 Other receivables and prepayments      814 032                  -                -                 -     814 032      814 032
 
 Total assets  18 874 407   3 452 514 7 532 949  6 813 593 36 673 463 34 694 599

 Liabilities
 Shareholder loan - - -  659 492 1 659 492 1 175 000
 Liabilities due to customers 28 216 182 3 297 423 75 486 - 31 589 091 31 405 773
 Liabilities to financial institutions 1 043 644 - - - 1 043 644 1 043 644
 Payables and accruals      533 720                -              - -      533 721      533 721

 Total liabilities 29 793 546  3 297 423    75 486 1 659 492 34 825 948 34 158 138

Contractual liquidity mismatch (10 919 139) 155 091 7 457 463 5 154 101 1 847 515 536 461

Cumulative liquidity mismatch (10 919 139) (10 764 048) (3 306 585) 1 847 516 1 847 515 536 461

Bank
At 31 December 2014
 Assets
 Cash and funds with 
 Reserve Bank of Malawi 8 154 302 - - - 8 154 301 8 154 301
 Placements with other banks 6 547 521 - - - 6 547 521 6 547 521
 Malawi Government Treasury Bills 
 and Reserve Bank of Malawi bond   1 500 000 6 749 040 3 250 000 - 11 499 040 10 950 834
Loans and advances to customers 4 947 354 4 526 158 11 821 735 10 869 183 32 164 430 19 069 634
 
Other receivables and prepayments       955 518                   -                  -                  -       955 518        955 518
 
Total assets  22 104 694   11 275 198  15 071 735 10 869 183  59 320 810   45 677 808

Liabilities
Shareholder loan - - - 1 499 653 1 499 653 1 175 000
Liabilities due to customers 40 181 063 21 001 33 818 - 40 235 882 39 200 161
    
Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - - -
 Payables and accruals      1 138 970                -              - -    1 138 970     1 138 970

 Total liabilities 41 320 033      21 001     33 818   1 499 653  42 874 505  41 514 131

Contractual liquidity mismatch (19 215 339) 11 254 197 15 037 917 9 369 530    16 446 305      4 163 677

Cumulative liquidity mismatch (19 215 339) (7 961 142) 7 076 775    16 446 305   16 446 305        4 163 677
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) 
   Up to 1-3 3-12 Over  Carrying 
   1 month months months 1 year Total value
   MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Group
At 31 December 2013
Assets
Cash and funds with 
Reserve Bank of Malawi 6 008 252 - - - 6 008 252 6 008 252
Placements with other banks 7 051 157 - - - 7 051 157 7 051 157
Malawi Government Treasury Bills
and Reserve Bank of Malawi bond       230 346    2 320 138         2393 264  - 4 943 748 4 475 929
Loans and advances to customers 4 717 934 1 132 376        5 139 685    6 813 593 17 803 588 16 292 543
Other receivables and prepayments     750 466                  -                -                 -      750 466     750 466
 
Total assets  18 758 155   3 452 514 7 532 949   6 813 593 36 557 211 34 578 347
Liabilities
Shareholder loan - - - 1 659 492 1 659 492 1 175 000
Liabilities due to customers 27 967 324 3 297 423 75 486 - 31 340 233 31 156 915
 
Liabilities to financial institutions 1 043 644 - - - 1 043 644 1 043 644
Payables and accruals     691 940                -              -                -     691 940     691 940

Total liabilities 29 702 908  3 297 423   75 486   1 659 492 34 735 309 34 067 499
Contractual liquidity mismatch (10 944 753 155 091 7 457 463 5 154 101 1 821 902 510 848
Cumulative liquidity mismatch  (10 944 753)  (10 789 662) (3 332 199)    1 821 902 1 821 902 510 848    
Group
At 31 December 2014
Assets
Cash and funds with 
Reserve Bank of Malawi 8 270 209 - - - 8 270 209 8 270 209
Placements with other banks 6 547 521 - - - 6 547 521 6 547 521
Malawi Government Treasury Bills 
and Reserve Bank of Malawi bond       1 500 000 6 749 040 3 250 000 - 11 499 040 10 950 834
Loans and advances to customers 4 780 811 4 526 158 11 821 735 10 869 183 31 997 888 18 903 091
Other receivables and prepayments       980 195                  -                  -                 -       980 195      980 195
 
Total assets 22 078 736 11 275 198 15 071 735 10 869 183  59 294 854 45 651 850

Liabilities
Shareholder loan - - - 1 499 653 1 499 653 1 175 000
Liabilities due to customers 40 181 063 21 001 33 818 - 40 235 882 39 107 
034 
Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - - -
Payables and accruals    1 201 412                -              -                 -   1 201 412   1 201 412

Total liabilities  41 382 475       21 001     33 818  1 499 653 42 936 947 41 483 405

Contractual liquidity mismatch          (19 303 739) 11 254 197 15 037 917 9 369 531 16 375 906 4 168 405

Cumulative liquidity mismatch  (19 303 739) (8 049 542) 6 988 375 16 375 906 16 375 906 4 168 405
 
The contractual liquidity mismatch shows the mismatch before any adjustments are made for product and customer 
behavioural assumptions. The Group’s Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) manages this mismatch by setting 
guidelines and limits for anticipated liquidity gaps and monitors these gaps weekly. The committee reviews the product and 
customer behavioural assumptions when there is indication that there is a shift in one or more of the variables.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2014

67



FDH BANK LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2014     Grow With Us

27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

 
d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and credit 
spreads will affect the Group’s income or the value of holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimis-
ing the return on risk.

 Management of market risks
 Overall authority for market risk management is vested in the ALCO.  

Interest rate risks
Group’s interest rate risk exposure is related to money market investments, advances to customers, customer 
deposits and money market liabilities.
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

e) Currency risk

 The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate 

 fluctuations arise. The Group has the following currency positions:

  USD GBP Euro ZAR JYP MK Total

  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Bank

At 31 December 2013

Assets

Cash and bank balances with 

Reserve Bank of Malawi 601 762 3 311 - 2 182 - 5 280 805 5 888 060

Placement with other banks  3 076 125 615 719 453 780 3 924  1 609  2 900 000 7 051 157  

Malawi Government Treasury Bills - - - - -   4 475 929 4 475 929

Loans and advances to customers - - - - - 16 465 421 16 465 421

Other receivables and prepayments                   -               -                -               -               -      814 032      814 032

 

Total assets   3 677 887   619 030    453 780      6 106 1 609 29 936 187 34 694 599

 

Liabilities

Liabilities to customers 3 654 622 620 336 397 005         1 223 -      26 732 587 31 405 773

Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - - 1 043 644 1 043 644

Payables and accruals                 -                -                -               -                - 533 720    533 720

Total liabilities   3 654 622   620 336     397 005         1 223               -  28 309 951       32 983 137

Net balance open position        23 265      (1 306)       56 775       4 883 1 609 1 626 236     1 711 462
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27.   Financial risk management (Continued)

e) Currency risk

 The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange  

 rate fluctuations arise. The Group has the following currency positions:

  USD GBP Euro ZAR JYP MK Total

  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Bank

At 31 December 2014

Assets

Cash and bank balances with 

Reserve Bank of Malawi 14 778 324 557 1 677 - 8 136 965 8 154 301

Placement with other banks   3 229 092 59 390 1 251 734 4 486 80 2 002 739 6 547 521

Malawi Government Treasury Bills - - - - - 10 950 834 10 950 834

Loans and advances to customers - - - - - 19 069 634 19 069 634

Other receivables and prepayments                   -               -                -               -          -       955 518      955 518

 

Total assets    3 243 870     59 714  1 252 291 6 163 80 41 115 690 45 677 808

 

Liabilities

Liabilities to customers 3 232 197 61 904 1 209 724 2 116 - 34 694 220 39 200 161

Liabilities to financial institutions - - - - - - -

Payables and accruals                   -               -                -               - -    1 138 970   1 138 970

Total liabilities    3 232 197     61 904 1 209 724       2 116  - 35 833 190 40 339 131

Net balance open position         11 673       (2 190)       42 567        4 047 80   5 282 500     5 338 677
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27. Financial risk management (Continued)

e) Currency risk (Continued)

       Other

  USD GBP Euro ZAR JYP currencies  MK Total

  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000

Group  

At 31 December 2013
Assets
Cash and bank balances with

Reserve Bank of Malawi 893 836 7 741 20 279 26 964 - 17 806 5 041 626 6 008 252

Placement with other banks  3 076 125 615 719 453 780 3 924 1 609 - 2 900 000 7 051 157 

Malawi Government Treasury 

Bills  - - - - - - 4 475 929 4 475 929

Loans and advances to 

customers - - - - - - 16 292 543 16 292 543

Other receivables and 

prepayments                  -               -                - -              -               -      750 466      750 466

 

Total assets   3 969 961   623 460    474 059 30 888  1 609     17 806 29 460 564 34 578 347

 

Liabilities

Liabilities to customers 3 654 622     620 336 397 005     1 223 - -  26 483 729 31 156 915

Liabilities to financial 

institutions - - - - - - 1 043 644 1 043 644

Payables and accruals                  -              -               -              -             -                -       691 940       691 940 

Total liabilities   3 654 622   620 336    397 005   1 223     -                -  28 219 313    32 892 499

Net balance open position      315 339       3 124      77 054   29 665    1 609      17 806    1 241 251    1 685 848
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27. Financial risk management (Continued)

e) Currency risk (Continued)

  
  USD GBP Euro ZAR JYP MK Total
  MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000 MK’000
Group
At 31 December 2014
Assets
Cash and bank balances with
Reserve Bank of Malawi 94 624 324 2 493 1 677 - 8 171 091 8 270 209
Placement with other banks   3 229 092 59 390 1 251 734 4 486 80 2 002 740 6 547 521
Malawi Government Treasury Bills - - - - - 10 950 834 10 950 834
Loans and advances to customers - - - - - 18 903 091 18 903 091
Other receivables and prepayments                  -                -                  -               -        -       980 195       980 195

Total assets   3 323 716      59 714   1 254 227       6 163         80  41 007 950 45 651 850

Liabilities
Liabilities to customers 3 165 602 61 904 1 207 791 2 116 - 34 669 621  39 107 034
Payables and accruals                  -                -                -               -        -   1 201 411        1 201 411

Total liabilities   3 165 602      61 904 1 207 791       2 116            - 35 871 032    40 308 445

Net balance open position     158 114      (2 190)      46 436       4 047          80        5 136 918 5 343 405

The impact of a 5% movement in foreign currency exchange rates in both directions is K10.3 million as at 31 December 
2014 (31 December 2013: K9.3 million).
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27. Financial risk management (Continued)

e)  Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 
Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, 
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations and 
are faced by all business entities.

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses 
and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that 
restrict initiative and creativity.

The Group has an internal audit department with the mandate of conducting audits to provide independent 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the management of operational risk, including, but not 
limited to, the processes, systems and controls.

f)   Compliance risk
This refers to the risk of non-compliance with any statutory requirements of central or local government, 
including regulations imposed by the Reserve Bank of Malawi and other regulatory bodies.

The management of compliance risk is a distinct discipline within the Group’s overall risk management 
framework. Ultimate responsibility for this risk lies with the Board of Directors. A combination of key 
activities are undertaken to manage the risk such as identifying the regulatory environment and 
developing compliance management plans, training staff and other stakeholders on relevant regulatory 
requirements, and monitoring compliance. 

The Group is subject to extensive supervisory and regulatory regimes, and the executive management 
remains responsible for overseeing the management of the Group’s compliance risk.

 
 Statutory requirements 

In accordance with Section 38 of the Banking Act, 2009, the Reserve Bank of Malawi has established the 
following requirements as at the reporting date:

Liquidity reserve requirement
The Bank is required to maintain a liquidity reserve with the Reserve Bank of Malawi equivalent to no less 
than 15.5% (2013: 15.5%) of total customer deposits.   At the end of the year, the liquidity reserve was 
equivalent to 15.5% of customer deposits.

Capital adequacy requirement as per Section 10 (1) of the Banking Act, 2009
Capital adequacy requirements are discussed in section ‘g’ below.

 Prudential aspects of bank liquidity
As a complement to Section 38 of the Banking Act, 2009, the Reserve Bank of Malawi had issued the 
following guidelines on the management of liquidity as at the statement of financial position date:

• Liquidity Ratio I -  Net liquidity (total liquid asset less suspense accounts in foreign  ` 
   currency) divided by total deposits must be at least 30%; and
• Liquidity Ratio II -  Net liquidity (total liquid assets less suspense accounts in foreign   
   currency and cheques in the course of collection) divided by total   
  deposits must be at least 20%.

Liquidity Ratios
At the end of the year the Bank’s liquidity ratio I was 65.4% (2013: 44.34%) and liquidity ratio II was 
65.4% (2013: 44.34 %).
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27. Financial risk management (Continued)

g) Capital management 
Reserve Bank of Malawi sets and monitors the capital requirements for banks.  In implementing current 
capital requirements, Reserve Bank of Malawi requires the Bank to maintain a minimum ratio of 10% core 
(tier 1) capital and 15% of total (tier 2) capital to risk-weighted assets.  The Bank’s regulatory capital is 
analysed as follows:-

• Tier I capital, which comprises ordinary share capital, share premium, retained profits
 from prior periods, share premiums, and 60% of after-tax profits in the current period-to 
 date, less any unconsolidated investment in financial companies; and

• Tier II capital, which also includes share revaluation reserves, investment revaluation   
reserve, property revaluation reserve and loan loss reserve.
 

The calculation of the above ratios is given below:-
 2014 2013
 MK’000 MK’000
Tier 1 capital
Share capital 267 750 267 750 
Share premium 807 250 807 250 
Preference Shares 500 000 500 000 
Retained earnings 722 530 1 263 572 
60% of net income for the period    1 990 120       12 062 
Goodwill     (131 784)     (131 784)

Total Tier 1 capital 4 155 866    2 718 850 

Loan loss reserve       561 145                  - 
Shareholder loan   1 175 000    1 175 000 

Total capital (Tier I & II)   5 892 011    3 893 850
 
Risk weighted assets 33 814 189 21 516 244 
 
Capital ratio
Total regulatory capital (Tier II) expressed as a percentage of
total risk weighted assets     17.4%      18.1%  
 
Total Tier I capital expressed as a percentage of total
risk weighted assets     12.3%      12.6% 
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27. Financial risk management (Continued)

g) Capital management (Continued)
   
Over and above the tier 1 and tier 2 ratios, the Reserve Bank of Malawi has also set a minimum share capital, 
share premium and retained earnings requirements. The sum of share capital, share premium must be at least 
Ks1,640 million as from 1 January 2014 (2013: K 850 million (excluding retained earnings)) for all registered 
banks. FDH Bank complies with this regulatory requirement. 

28. Events after the reporting period

 On 10 February 2015, the board of directors declared final dividends amounting to K900 million. This resulted into 
 a final dividend of K3.36 per share.

29. Exchange rates and inflation

 The average of the period-end buying and selling rates of the foreign currencies most affecting the    
 performance of the Bank are stated below, together with the increase in the National Consumer Price 
 Index, which represents an official measure of inflation.

  2014 2013

Kwacha/GBP  736.11 741.84 
Kwacha/Rand  40.38 45.32 
Kwacha/US Dollar  471.00 449.00 
Kwacha/Euro  574.02 625.28 
    
Inflation rate (%) (December 2014)         24.2        23.5 
    
   
 As at 10 February 2015, the above noted rates had moved as follows:

Kwacha/GBP 679.25   
Kwacha/Euro 502.91
Kwacha/US Dollar 456.00 
Kwacha/Rand 38.47  
  
Inflation rate (%) (January 2015)         21.2
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